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  1   or anything because of the fact that you needed to

  2   have the exits out of there.

  3         Q.     But you were aware that this was

  4   built, correct?

  5         A.     It wasn't built at this time.

  6         Q.     No, not in 2012, but in 2016, one was

  7   required to be built, correct?

  8         A.     Well, if the building permit was

  9   issued for them to build that.

 10         Q.     Excuse me.  Did I say 2012?  It was

 11   required in 2012 as part of these plans.

 12         A.     The stairs were required in 2012?

 13         Q.     Is that correct?

 14         A.     Or the door?

 15         Q.     The door and the stairs.

 16         A.     If that space would have been

 17   occupied, it would have been required.  But it

 18   specifically states on Exhibit 66 that new

 19   exterior exit stair construction by separate

 20   permit with HPC approval.  So if we did not have

 21   any permit for this work and HPC approval, they

 22   couldn't occupy that space.

 23                   (OFF THE RECORD)

 24                (Whereupon, Deposition Exhibit No. 61

 25   was marked for identification and a copy is
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  1   attached and hereby made a part of this

  2   deposition.)

  3   BY MR. MILLER:

  4         Q.     Showing you what's marked as Exhibit

  5   Number 61.  Would you take a look at that, please?

  6         A.     Okay.  Question on Exhibit 61?

  7         Q.     Would you identify that, please?

  8         A.     Yes.  An email I sent to Steve Ubl

  9   regarding trying to get the SAC credits from Mr.

 10   Rupp at 79 Western for the Commodore.

 11         Q.     And it states that you conducted an

 12   exhaustive search with Larry Zangs?

 13         A.     That's correct.

 14         Q.     And what was included in the

 15   exhaustive search?

 16         A.     Went through the address file, going

 17   through SAC information, books.  And trying to

 18   find out if there are any kind of credits anywhere

 19   on the property.

 20         Q.     So you were looking for credits?

 21         A.     Correct.

 22         Q.     And you evidently reached a

 23   conclusion that the banquet room was formerly an

 24   exercise room when the squash addition was

 25   constructed in 1976?
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  1         A.     That is correct.

  2         Q.     Is that a conclusion that the

  3   exercise room was in fact used as an exercise room

  4   in 1976?

  5         A.     I believe that is correct, what I've

  6   got written down here, yes.  I have there, "When

  7   the squash addition was constructed in 1976, it

  8   remained an exercise room until 1987."

  9         Q.     What led you to the conclusion that

 10   it was an exercise room in 1976?

 11         A.     Probably found some documents in the

 12   address file that stated something in there.  I'm

 13   not sure.  I mean, when you go to the address

 14   file, you're going to find information on the

 15   property, very large information, two inches thick

 16   worth of all kinds of information.  You have to go

 17   through each of those papers to see if you can

 18   find any information on it.  That's probably where

 19   we came up with that information where it changed

 20   from a squash to an exercise room.

 21         Q.     Would you repeat that last sentence?

 22   It was changed from what?

 23         A.     Well, it appears that it was -- when

 24   it was the squash room that was added on to the

 25   building, then it was that for awhile, and then it
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  1   changed over to an exercise room.

  2         Q.     Okay.  So are you saying in this

  3   sentence that the exercise room was used as an

  4   exercise room in 1976?

  5         A.     I am saying that it was an exercise

  6   room from 1976 until 1987.

  7         Q.     And what evidence do you have that it

  8   was used as an exercise room from 1976 through

  9   1987?

 10         A.     Like I say, that information probably

 11   would be in the address file.

 12         Q.     Did you take any notes of your

 13   exhaustive search?

 14         A.     Probably, with the Affidavit C, which

 15   is a Met Council affidavit that you fill out, I

 16   might have put the information on that form.

 17         Q.     Is there any record of the results of

 18   the exhaustive search?

 19         A.     Not that I recall, no.

 20         Q.     You don't have any other

 21   recollection?

 22         A.     No.

 23         Q.     Do you know what information

 24   indicated that the exercise room was vacant in

 25   2004?
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  1         A.     Like I say, the information is in the

  2   address file.  You'd have to go to the address

  3   file and pull everything and start looking at

  4   everything.  When I did this letter for Steve,

  5   sent this email to Steve, it was just to let him

  6   know that we've looked all the information up that

  7   was in the address file, and just highlighted what

  8   we found out.  I didn't keep any of the documents

  9   that pointed anything out that I recollect, or

 10   made any copies or anything to send to him.  I

 11   don't believe I have.  The only attachment I put

 12   on that email was for that affidavit.  Like I say,

 13   that Affidavit C, that 2015 Affidavit C, which is

 14   a Met Council form, it might have been broken down

 15   on that form, or I might have said where

 16   everything is at.  And you don't have that

 17   affidavit, right?  I don't think we do.

 18         Q.     Do you know how we can get a copy of

 19   that?

 20         A.     Yeah, we have that information.

 21   Should still have it.  In fact, I thought one was

 22   sent to Mr. Rupp, I thought.

 23         Q.     Would you be able to try to provide a

 24   copy to Miss Skarda?

 25         A.     Sure.
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  1       there.

  2                   (Deposition Exhibit 82 marked

  3       for identification).

  4   Q   I'm showing you what has been marked as

  5       Exhibit No. 82.  Do you recognize that?

  6   A   Yes.

  7   Q   That appears to be an e-mail that's dated

  8       January 25th, 2016.  Is that correct?

  9   A   That is correct, yes.

 10   Q   From a John Skradski to Stephen Ubl?

 11   A   Yes.

 12   Q   The subject line is 79 Western Avenue

 13       North, Commodore Bar and Restaurant.

 14       Correct?

 15   A   Yes.

 16   Q   And it talks in the first line of the

 17       substance of it.  It says, "After an

 18       exhaustive search conducted by Larry Zangs

 19       and myself the information we found was the

 20       "now" banquet room was formerly an exercise

 21       room."  Is that correct?

 22   A   Yes.

 23   Q   And that sentence goes on?

 24   A   Yes.

 25   Q   And you participated in the exhaustive
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  1       search or were you the one who did

  2       primarily the exhaustive search?

  3   A   I would say I did most of it, yes.

  4   Q   You were referring to earlier before this

  5       exhibit was introduced several things that

  6       you had done?

  7   A   Yes.

  8   Q   Talked to Mr. O'Brien?

  9   A   Yes.

 10   Q   Looked at some photos that he gave you?

 11   A   Yes.

 12   Q   Could you briefly summarize what else?

 13   A   I looked at license records or was looking

 14       for license records.  Sometimes they have

 15       floor plans.  I was hoping I would find

 16       one.  I did not.

 17   Q   What did you find in the license records?

 18   A   There was one document between Mr. Rupp and

 19       Kris Schweinler in licensing.

 20   Q   Was there anything in the licensing

 21       department that you found that would

 22       indicate that this was -- and I'm pointing

 23       to the west dining room -- that it was

 24       licensed as an exercise facility?

 25   A   There was a sketch, if you will, on a
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  1       document indicating that area.  And I want

  2       to say it was included as an attachment to

  3       a letter that I saw from Mr. Rupp to Kris

  4       Schweinler, the license person.

  5   Q   That the west dining room was licensed as

  6       an exercise room?

  7   A   No.  As part of the -- it was included as

  8       part of the liquor service area.

  9   Q   But was there anything in the licensing

 10       records showing that the west dining room

 11       was licensed as an exercise facility?

 12   A   I didn't see any.

 13   Q   Where else did you look?

 14   A   Well, I think I might have looked at a Polk

 15       directory (ph).  At that particular point,

 16       the address file was not producing a lot of

 17       convincing evidence.  Mr. O'Brien was

 18       digging up stuff because I had repeated

 19       conversations with him.  So we have some

 20       information about the site.  There's a

 21       license letter that would that indicate --

 22       some information indicating that the liquor

 23       service area for licensing purposes was

 24       inclusive of the west dining area.  And

 25       that was sort of the track I was going down
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  1       saying, okay, it's sort of looking like

  2       what I had thought originally it was.  And

  3       then we got the photos from Mr. O'Brien and

  4       it was like whoa.

  5                   So it turned -- it sort of

  6       changed the conversation, if you will, and

  7       the City's position on the area of the west

  8       dining room.

  9   Q   And that position changed primarily because

 10       of the photos?

 11   A   I would say that that was a major turning

 12       point, yes.

 13   Q   Did you ever check to see if the west

 14       dining room had an occupancy permit for an

 15       exercise room?

 16   A   It seems to me that we did, and the records

 17       were not clear.  I mean, you're correct.

 18       That was another source we were looking

 19       for.  Sometimes you can get lucky, if you

 20       will, that the fire inspector went in there

 21       and made some kind of notation.  I was

 22       hoping for that and we never found

 23       anything.

 24   Q   How about records relative to SAC issues?

 25   A   I don't recall anything on that.
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  1   Q   Any records, Planning Commission meetings

  2       that may have dealt with the use of the

  3       west dining area?

  4   A   Not specific to the west dining area.  I

  5       believe there was something a while back to

  6       the Commodore, but I don't think it was --

  7       I don't recall it being specific to

  8       addressing the west dining room, the

  9       expansion or whether it was included or any

 10       of that sort of thing.  I don't believe it

 11       was clear.

 12   Q   What zoning records did you look at?

 13   A   I think there was an action by the Planning

 14       Commission.  I'd have to consult it.  I

 15       recall there was something, but I don't

 16       recall all the specifics of it.

 17   Q   Where would those records be?

 18   A   Well, either in planning or we should

 19       have -- they should have been in the

 20       address file in our office as well.  I

 21       recall something, but I don't recall the

 22       specifics.  I'd have to, actually, look at

 23       it again.

 24   Q   Did you look to see whether or not any

 25       building permits had ever been issued for
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  1       the west dining room as part of it being --

  2       or connected to its being an exercise room?

  3   A   None that I recall.

  4   Q   Did you look or did you not look?  I didn't

  5       ask the question very well.  Let me put it

  6       that way.

  7                   Did you check to see if there

  8       were any permits for the exercise room, for

  9       the west dining room as an exercise room?

 10   A   I looked at all the permits that were

 11       available because that would have been

 12       clear evidence of a use of that, and I

 13       don't recall a permit for that room as an

 14       exercise room.

 15   Q   Were there any other permits that you

 16       recall that weren't related to it being an

 17       exercise room?

 18   A   I'd have to go back and look to be sure,

 19       but I don't recall.

 20   Q   Did you talk to the architect who

 21       originally drew the plans for the

 22       Commodore?

 23   A   I did.

 24   Q   Who was that?  Tom Blanck?

 25   A   Thank you.  Yes.
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  1   Q   What did he say?

  2   A   There was a conversation about a

  3       building -- I believe it was this addition,

  4       this link here.  It was this area here.

  5       I'm sorry.  The west dining area.  My

  6       recollection of the conversation is it

  7       didn't go anywhere.  Mr. Blanck had done

  8       what is essentially sort of a shell.  He

  9       had focused on, because it's in the

 10       historic district, on the windows along

 11       Holly.  That seemed to be his scope of

 12       service.  He wasn't specifically clear

 13       about what the use was.  I believe his

 14       client was John O'Brien's dad, Thoma

 15       O'Brien.

 16                   His focus was building this, and

 17       there was the issue of windows on Holly.

 18       And that's where it was.  There wasn't a

 19       lot of clear -- there wasn't any conclusion

 20       that he drew that gave us some indication

 21       as to what was going to go in this space,

 22       just about the exterior.

 23   Q   Did he tell you why the west dining room

 24       was added to the plans, what its purpose

 25       was?
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  1   A   I don't recall.  He could have.  I don't

  2       recall.

  3   Q   Is there any evidence that the O'Briens,

  4       Thoma or his son, when this was built in

  5       1975, '76 intended it to be used at that

  6       time as an exercise room?

  7   A   Ask the question again.

  8   Q   Is there any evidence that when it was

  9       built by the O'Briens in 1975 or '76, that

 10       they intended it to be used as an exercise

 11       room?

 12   A   I don't think so.  I don't know.

 13   Q   Could you look at the second line?

 14   A   First paragraph?

 15   Q   First paragraph.

 16   A   (Witness examining document).  Okay.

 17   Q   It says that you found -- I will quote.

 18       "We found that the "now" banquet room was

 19       formerly an Exercise Room when the Squash

 20       addition was constructed in 1976 and

 21       remained an Exercise Room until 1987."

 22   A   Okay.

 23   Q   So what evidence did you have that

 24       indicated that it was an exercise room when

 25       it was constructed in 1976?
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  1   A   Well, for certain, the photos, I believe.

  2       There may have been some additional

  3       information that may have been in the

  4       architect, Mr. Blanck's, information that

  5       would have drawn this conclusion.  I think

  6       this document is trying to sort of

  7       encapsulate as best as it can where we

  8       think everything was.  So I would say that

  9       it's intended to try to suggest to sort of

 10       a timeline.  But the record I can tell you

 11       was very sketchy.  We were trying to draw

 12       whatever we could conclusions, if you will,

 13       from the information that we had.  So I

 14       guess that's where I would say that

 15       statement comes from.

 16               (Discussion off the record).

 17   Q   (By Mr. Miller, continuing) Now, you

 18       referred to some photos?

 19   A   Yes.

 20   Q   They weren't from 1976, were they?

 21   A   I'd have to look at them again to know

 22       when.

 23   Q   How many photos were there, approximately?

 24   A   I'm trying to picture them in my mind.

 25       There was eight or so maybe.
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  1   Q   Color photos?

  2   A   Yes.

  3   Q   Did he say who took them?

  4   A   I don't recall who took them.  Mr. O'Brien

  5       provided them to us.  So beyond that, I

  6       don't know who produced them.

  7   Q   Then going on in Exhibit No. 82, there's

  8       some information that indicated the

  9       exercise room was vacant in 2004.  What was

 10       that information, do you remember?

 11   A   No, I don't.

 12   Q   Then you also referred to a building permit

 13       issued to install windows on Holly Avenue

 14       South was evidence of it being an exercise

 15       room?

 16   A   Are we referring to the building permit

 17       12-017614?

 18   Q   No.

 19   A   Okay.

 20   Q   In the third line down it says, "In 1987 a

 21       building permit was issued to install

 22       windows on the Holly Avenue (South) side of

 23       the building."

 24   A   Yes.

 25   Q   What does that have to do with the exercise
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  1       room?

  2   A   I'm not sure there is a connection between

  3       the building permit to install the windows

  4       and the exercise room, unless there was

  5       some note on there.  I'd have to go back

  6       and look at it and see.

  7   Q   Can you remember, going down a line, what

  8       information indicated that the exercise

  9       room was vacant in 2004?

 10   A   You know, I don't know.  There might have

 11       been a note on the permit.  There might

 12       have been something.  I don't know.  I'd

 13       have to go back and look.

 14   Q   Then you noted that building permit number

 15       12-017614 was issued in 2012 for an

 16       interior remodel.  Could you take another

 17       look at Exhibit No. 4?

 18   A   Yes.

 19   Q   That's the building permit.  Do you have

 20       that exhibit?

 21   A   Yes, I do.

 22   Q   That's the building permit that you are

 23       referring to?

 24   A   Yes.  Well --

 25   Q   Go ahead.
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  1   BY MR. MILLER:

  2           Q.     I'd like to refer you again to Exhibit

  3   No. 38.

  4           A.     Okay.

  5           Q.     And I think that you established that

  6   those are -- or that's probably a printout from

  7   AMANDA, and the information that is on that exhibit

  8   was inputted by you?

  9           A.     That is correct.

 10           Q.     And do you know when that was inputted?

 11           A.     Probably 10/27/15, I'm assuming, from

 12   what is on here.

 13           Q.     And what does that refer to?

 14           A.     It refers to the corrections that were

 15   needed in order for the final to be completed.

 16           Q.     And that arose out of a walkthrough,

 17   correct?

 18           A.     That is correct.

 19           Q.     And what triggered the walkthrough?

 20   Why was it scheduled?

 21           A.     I was asked to go take a look at it to

 22   see what was still needed, I believe, from Steve Ubl,

 23   to go take a look at the site to see what was still

 24   needed for the site to get a final.

 25           Q.     So you were directed to go out there by
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  1   Steve Ubl?

  2           A.     Yes.

  3           Q.     And can you state again what the

  4   purpose was?

  5           A.     To go take a look to see what was still

  6   needed for the site to get a final, to what was still

  7   needed to get completed.

  8           Q.     What did you review before you went?

  9           A.     I didn't review anything.

 10           Q.     Had you seen Exhibit No. 54 prior to

 11   going out?

 12           A.     I did not.

 13           Q.     Did you bring anything with you?

 14           A.     I did not.

 15           Q.     So, just so we're clear, you didn't

 16   know what permits had been issued?

 17           A.     That is correct.

 18           Q.     And you didn't know what had been

 19   inspected?

 20           A.     That is correct.

 21           Q.     When I say "permits," I'm talking about

 22   plumbing, electrical, so forth and so on.

 23           A.     That is correct, I did not know what

 24   had all transpired as of that day I went out there.

 25           Q.     And did you review any documents ahead
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  1   of time?

  2           A.     I did not.

  3           Q.     Did you bring any documents with you?

  4           A.     I did not.

  5           Q.     Did you go out there by yourself?

  6           A.     I did.

  7           Q.     And did you meet anybody at the

  8   property?

  9           A.     I did not at the time.

 10           Q.     Did you do this inspection by yourself?

 11           A.     Yes.

 12           Q.     Did you have any conversations at all

 13   at that time with John Rupp?

 14           A.     I do recall seeing John Rupp when I was

 15   walking through there, and I believe we had spoken a

 16   little bit about a couple things that were going to be

 17   needed to get done.

 18           Q.     Okay.  Do you recall what those things

 19   were?

 20           A.     I believe it was most of the stuff that

 21   I had written down in here.

 22           Q.     Did you tell John that you were going

 23   to circulate a punch list?

 24           A.     I did not.  That I recall.

 25           Q.     Did you tell him that he could open
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  1   subject to certain conditions?

  2           A.     I said that he could possibly open

  3   after all trades had completed their inspections and

  4   were okay with them.

  5           Q.     So what were the conditions that you

  6   told them?

  7           A.     So I told him -- well, I'm not sure

  8   exactly what my words were, but I said that we needed

  9   to get the finals from all trades to be completed and

 10   that they needed to make the corrections of stuff that

 11   was still needed to get done if we talked.

 12           Q.     So were the --

 13                  MR. RUPP:  I need to talk to you for

 14   one second.  I'm sorry about this, but this is the

 15   nature of this.

 16                  (Off the record.)

 17   BY MR. MILLER:

 18           Q.     When you made that comment, did you

 19   know what trades had been finaled?

 20           A.     At the time I did not.

 21           Q.     Now, could you look at Exhibit No. 38

 22   again.

 23           A.     Yes.

 24           Q.     And down towards the bottom there, the

 25   third to the last line, it says, "I would be okay for
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  1   a temp occupancy" -- I would imagine that's temporary

  2   occupancy permit; is that correct?

  3           A.     Um-hmm.

  4           Q.     Okay.  "With a signed document to

  5   finish all corrections within 30 days."

  6           A.     Um-hmm.

  7           Q.     Was that an accurate statement at the

  8   time?

  9           A.     I believe it was.

 10           Q.     And was that document prepared?

 11           A.     No.

 12           Q.     And why wasn't it prepared?

 13           A.     I didn't prepare a document for him.  I

 14   think I was expecting him to -- or somebody -- I think

 15   what it meant was, let's sign documents from all the

 16   trades showing that they had been correct -- that the

 17   corrections were done, I believe, is what I was

 18   referring to.

 19           Q.     But who was going to prepare that

 20   document?

 21           A.     There was no document to be -- I think

 22   what I meant was that -- that I was looking for the

 23   corrections to be completed in AMANDA with all the

 24   trades within -- if they were all completed within

 25   30 days, that I would be okay with giving out a
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  1   temporary --

  2           Q.     Who would have signed that document?

  3           A.     That would have been the plumbing, the

  4   fire inspectors, the electrical inspectors, the --

  5   that they would have been all completed in their

  6   permits.

  7           Q.     But it says that --

  8           A.     I realize what this says.

  9           Q.     A signed document to finish all

 10   corrections.

 11           A.     I think it got entered in -- I think I

 12   entered it in with a bad language.

 13           Q.     Were you expecting John Rupp to sign a

 14   document?

 15           A.     I wasn't expecting anybody to sign a

 16   document.

 17           Q.     Did you ever tell John that he could

 18   open on a temporary basis if all these corrections

 19   were made?

 20           A.     I believe I did say that.

 21           Q.     Okay.  And can you remember, to the

 22   best of your recollection, what is it that you said?

 23           A.     To the best of my recollection, I think

 24   I said that if he -- if all the corrections and all

 25   the trades were completed within the 30 days, that I
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  1   would be happy to give him a temporary occupancy.

  2           Q.     A temporary occupancy starting when?

  3           A.     As soon as they were done with their

  4   corrections.

  5           Q.     Not at the time?

  6           A.     Pardon?

  7           Q.     Did you -- were you aware that he was

  8   ready to open?

  9           A.     I would agree that he was not ready to

 10   open.

 11           Q.     Did you tell him that he could not open

 12   under a temporary or final?

 13           A.     I said that he could open within -- if

 14   the completions were corrected within 30 days.

 15           Q.     And how was he to know what it was that

 16   had to be completed?

 17           A.     That, I don't know.  I don't think I

 18   gave him anything.

 19                  MR. RUPP:  We need a break again.

 20                  (Off the record.)

 21   BY MR. MILLER:

 22           Q.     Mr. Palm, I believe that you testified

 23   that the missing piece was to find out whether or not

 24   all of the subcontractors had been signed off on.

 25           A.     Correct.
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  1           Q.     Is that correct?

  2                  And -- but you didn't have that

  3   information with you?

  4           A.     I did not.

  5           Q.     Okay.  And you were aware that the --

  6   that John wanted to open the property for -- open to

  7   the public -- in the very near future, correct?

  8           A.     I was aware that he would probably be

  9   looking to open it at some time in the near future,

 10   yes.

 11           Q.     Okay.  A matter of days?

 12           A.     I had -- I didn't know how much, I was

 13   just asked to go take a look at to see where the job

 14   was at.

 15           Q.     And did you tell him that he could open

 16   on a temporary basis?

 17           A.     I did not.

 18           Q.     Did you tell him what he needed to do

 19   in order to open on a temporary basis?

 20           A.     I believe I did.  I don't know if it

 21   was him, could have been -- I can't remember if there

 22   was -- I think John was there, I'm not positive, it's

 23   a long time since I've been there.  I don't know if

 24   there was actually a contractor onsite, which there

 25   might have been that I was walking with, now that I'm
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  1   thinking back.  But I can't remember if I told John or

  2   it was another person onsite, that they needed to get

  3   a bunch of stuff done in order to be able to open.

  4           Q.     But you said earlier today that the key

  5   piece was getting the subcontractors to sign off, and

  6   you didn't know.

  7           A.     I did not know if they were completed

  8   yet or not.  I'd have to go look and see in the system

  9   who's been signed off or not when I got back.

 10           Q.     Okay.  If all of the subcontractors had

 11   signed off, would he have been given a permanent

 12   occupancy certificate?

 13           A.     No, because he wasn't done yet with the

 14   building portion of it.

 15           Q.     Was he done with the building portion?

 16           A.     There was a few corrections that needed

 17   to get done for a permanent.  It's stated here in my

 18   comments there what needed -- a lot of stuff that

 19   needed to get done yet.

 20           Q.     "I would be okay for a temporary

 21   occupancy."  Does that mean temporary occupancy

 22   permit?

 23           A.     That means a temporary.  A temporary is

 24   something that we would give if we were close to

 25   having all the safety aspects in place for being able
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  1   to open.  That would be all the trades giving a nod

  2   that there might be some minor corrections yet to do;

  3   and including the building inspection department, too,

  4   that there was just some minor stuff yet to be

  5   completed in order to give out a temporary.  As long

  6   as it was safe for people to be inside.

  7           Q.     So a safety issue?

  8           A.     It's a safety issue.

  9           Q.     Which ones -- what exactly are the

 10   safety issues that would have to be --

 11           A.     Exit signs needed to be installed yet,

 12   the emergency lights were still -- there were some

 13   missing, handrails needed to be installed yet, a

 14   sprinkler system needed to be installed throughout,

 15   the fire alarm system had not been completed yet.  And

 16   I don't know -- I didn't know at the time if the

 17   plumbing was okay, the electrical was okay, the

 18   ventilation was okay, at the time when I entered this.

 19           Q.     But this particular information was

 20   never given to John, correct?

 21           A.     I don't believe it -- I don't know if I

 22   sent it to him or not.  I don't recall.

 23           Q.     When was the 30 days supposed to start?

 24           A.     October 27th.

 25           Q.     And how would Mr. Rupp know that that
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  1   was the date that all these items had to be done?

  2           A.     If I talked to him, it would have been

  3   a verbal okay at that time, that I would grant him

  4   30 days to try to get stuff done.  And I don't know if

  5   I said that or not to him.

  6           Q.     And if he had gotten all that stuff

  7   done, would he have gotten a temporary or a permanent?

  8           A.     If he would have been completed with

  9   all the major -- the majority of the stuff, yes, I

 10   would have been happy to give it to him.

 11           Q.     Give him what?

 12           A.     A temporary.

 13           Q.     Okay.  Why not a permanent?

 14           A.     I would have given him a permanent if

 15   everything was -- been completed.

 16           Q.     To the best of your knowledge, he was

 17   never informed of what needed to be done; is that

 18   correct?

 19           A.     That, I don't know.

 20           Q.     Okay.  Who would have informed him if

 21   not you?

 22           A.     I don't know.  I can't recall if I sent

 23   him this or not.

 24           Q.     This list, and everything else that

 25   we're talking about, that was done without your review
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MR . MILLER : We have nothing else at 

this time . 

MS. SKARDA : My turn. Okay . Sorry . 

EXAMINATION 

BY MS . SKARDA : 

Q . Mr . Bloom, I just want to go over a few 

things briefly with you . I 'm going to kind of push 

these down, if that ' s all right . First of all, I'm 

going to have you look up here in the upper top. Take 

a look at how this area was described . Can you tell me 

what that is? 

A. Future west dining room. 

Q. What does that tell us? 

A. It tells us , in the future, it is going 

to be -- it is going to be a dining area, but it is not 

part of the scope of work. That is how I would read it 

at this point. 

Q . That's on Exhibit 123 , just for the 

record . 

Can we talk a little bit about how 

architects note changes on plans. 

A. Normally, the bubble. It will be a 

cloud . And there isn't anything indicated. Oh, wa~t. 

Actually, they are clouds over here. 

Depoln~rnationa~In~ 
(763) 591-0535 I info@depointernat EXHIBIT 

I g~12i 
Page 59 



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

..,c:. 

EXHIBIT 
11 

rlQ-foO SJ 

I 

Jim Bloom - 4/30/2018 
In the Matter of All Licenses Held by the University Club of St. Paul 

Q. And with respect to comparing Exhibit 

123 to Exhibit 55, if they were going to change a 

symbol key, would they also cloud that? 

A. Normally, they would, yes. 

Q. You talked a little bit about the 

western dining area and if it was going to be finished 

off under these plans, Exhibit 123. You talked about 

HVAC and exiting and some other items. Would those 

have been plans, in your experience, that were attached 

to the plans, or would an architect put all the 

information they needed right on the plans? 

A. They would have been a separate 

submittal. Let me rephrase that. There's any number 

of ways it could come in. It could come in as a 

complete package. Architectural, HVAC, mechanical, 

electrical, plumbing, all stamped and signed by the 

appropriate disciplines and designers. 

They would be submitted to the different 

review sections within DSI. Then when the reviews are 

done, they are brought back together, and they are put 

together. 

Mr. Rupp explained that, at times when 

there isn't a change of use and the mechanical systems 

can be verified that they are -- they qualify or they 

meet code for -- even if it is a change or if it is the 
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1 same, within the same category -- it is occupancy 

2 groups. But if it is in the same occupancy groups, the 

3 air changes would be the same, the mechanical systems 

4 would be the same, it may be fine, and the senior can 

s approve that without the plans being submitted. 

6 MS. SKARDA: I'll have these marked. 

7 (Exhibits 130 and 131 marked.) 

B BY MS. SKARDA: 

9 Q. I'm showing you what's been marked as 

10 Exhibit 130 and 131. I would submit to you that 

11 Exhibit 130 is actually just blown-up pictures that 

12 appear on the bottom of 131. 

13 A. Thank you. 

14 Q. I would also submit, this is a document 

15 that is in the file at DSI and has been previously 

16 disclosed. 

17 Were you ever in the western dining 

18 area? 

19 

20 

A. 

Q. 

No, I was not, not to my recollection. 

I'll have you look at the first two 

21 pictures and tell me what those first two say, over on 

22 the left-hand side of the paper, Exhibit 131. 

23 

24 

A. 

Q. 

You want me to read it? 

Sure. 

A. 11 Easterly end of proposed banquet room 
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parcel." 

Q. And below that? 

A. "Westerly end of proposed banquet room 

parcel. 11 

Q. I'll have you look at Exhibit 131. On 

the right-hand side, there's a box. Can you just tell 

me what it is entitled. I'm not going to make you read 

it. 

A. "Proposed Banquet Room Parcel 

Description." 

Q. So can you look at this document and 

tell us if that proposed banquet room description is 

the western dining room, based on what you see before 

you? 

A. Yes, it is. 

Q. What about that tells you -­

A. That it is? 

Q. -- that it is the western dining room? 

A. Because the angles on the northern 

portion face of the Commodore addition are matching up 

with the angles, and that west -- or that north-south 

wall is the same north-south wall, which is the face 

between the existing dining room and the west dining 

room. 

Q. I'm going to give you my pen. I'm going 
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to have you circle, on Exhibit 131, what that proposed 

banquet room parcel description includes. 

You were being questioned by Mr. Miller. 

You said that sometimes architects draw plans like 

puzzles. I think that was the word you used. You 

reviewed what is Exhibit 123 and Exhibit 55. Do you 

look at plans like pieces of puzzles? 

A. Yes, I do. Why I said that is the 

existing dining room, east lounge and dining room, is a 

stand-alone. It is code compliant on its own. It 

doesn't rely on the west dining for any exiting systems 

at all. 

Okay. Where the west dining relies on 

the existing dining and the east lounge for an exiting 

service system, because they exit into -- the west 

dining exits into the existing dining and has its own 

secondary exit stairs going directly outside. 

The existing dining doesn't have to exit 

into the west dining. It has its own exit going up and 

going north and going south out of the building. 

Q. So - -

A. That's how the pieces of the puzzle work 

together, to give you how it all works together. 

Q. So we know, at pome point in time, you 

became aware that the western dining area had been 
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1 finished off. Can you talk a little bit about your 

2 recollection, if any, with respect to that. 

3 A. I don't recall how I learned it. It was 

4 just -- it was office conversation that work had been 

s done, and I, honestly, don't recall. 

6 Q. Do you remember having any conversations 

7 with Mr. Rupp about the western dining area and the 

8 work that was done? 

9 A. I don't recall having conversations 

10 about the work that was done. I do recall discussions 

11 prior to any permits or very, very early on, which we 

12 had --

13 Mr. Rupp and I have had many 

14 conversations on proposed projects that he was. The 

15 intention was always to use that as the west dining 

16 room and turn that back into a banquet west dining 

17 area. I was aware of that, absolutely. 

18 Q. Do you recall any conversations about 

19 occupancy, allowing occupancy or use of that western 

20 dining area? 

21 A. Oh, I'm sorry, I do not. There's just 

22 too much. 

EXHIBIT 

23 

24 

I cJq-to4 

you used 

means to 

Q. Can you talk a little bit 

the term, "legally established," 

you. 
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A. Legally established, from this person, 

plan reviewer, ex-plan reviewer's perspective is a 

review process of construction review, licensing --

If I can give you a quick synopsis. At 

DSI, you have zoning. You have -- which is the land 

usage allowed to be on that piece of property. You 

have the building codes, which is the building that 

sits on the piece of property. And then you have the 

licensing section, which is the operation that sits in 

the building that sits on the land. That's how it 

works, to me. 

When it is legally approved or 

established, those processes, or a facsimile of those 

in past years, would have been of record, and those 

records could be recaptured and shown that it was legal 

at some period, at some point. 

Q. So if the western dining area looked 

like it looked in these two pictures -- and I'm going 

to have you describe them for the record -- how would 

you interpret that as to whether --

A. Those are raw spaces. There is no -­

there is no use of those spaces at this point. 

Q. Does it give us any evidence of any kind 

of a use? 

A. No, to me, it does not. I'm only 
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looking at two small photographs. There is no use. 

Q. Assuming those two pictures are what is 

now the western dining area, what would you, as the 

plan examiner, want to see to finish off that space, 

what kind of supplemental documents? 

A. It is a full use, as far as I would be 

concerned, even though it may have been -- for zoning 

purposes or for SAC determination, maybe, it may hold 

some credit. But as far as building code compliance, 

it is not a continuation of a use. 

Q. And for the record, I was referring to 

Exhibit 130. I apologize. 

I'll have you, just real quickly, look 

at Exhibit 118, which is somewhere. I'm going to kind 

of point to the "Plan review remarks." Tell us what 

that says there. 

A. "Door and exit steps." 

Q. So that tells -­

A. That is correct. 

Q. I'm going to have you flip to the second 

page of that exhibit. 

A. It is signed by Mr. Williamette. It is 

approved by him. 

Q. There's some notes kind of towards the 

bottom of the page. Can you review those and tell me 
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1 what that tells you about what the scope of that permit 

2 was. 

3 

4 

A. This permit was for stairs only. 

"Contact Larry Zangs before issuing 

5 building permit. OWner should provide documentation to 

6 verify SAC has been paid for expansion of ballroom -

7 need HPC approval to issue permit - owner supplied 

B information to HPC. 11 

9 Q. What does that tell you, if anything, as 

10 the plans reviewer, about that permit? 

11 A. The permit was for the fire stair only 

12 and that the other items in the dining room had not 

13 been reviewed or approved by these other sections, by 

14 Larry Zangs or -- verification for the SAC 

15 determination had not been done. 

16 Q. Do you recall having conversations with 

17 Mr. Rupp about the restrooms in the existing area of 

18 the Commodore? 

19 A. We had talked -- I believe, we had 

20 talked about using a unisex. That's partially looking 

21 at some of the notes that were here or the letter. I 

22 think it was using a unisex restroom as part of 

23 complying with the handicap accessible restrooms. You 

24 can have a male and female non-accessible restroom if 

you have a unisex restroom, in certain cases, in 
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existing establishments. 

Q. And when you had those conversations 

with Mr. Rupp, your understanding was the scope of the 

permits that were being issued was only the existing 

portion? 

A. That's correct. 

Q. Do you recall letting the new restrooms 

be constructed to 2007 Minnesota Accessibility Code, 

Chapter 1341, and what that might mean? 

A. No, I do not. 

Q. Might it help if you reviewed 

notes? I don't know if it will or won't. 

A. Not really. 

(Exhibit 132 marked.) 

BY MS. SKARDA: 

your 

Q. Reviewing Exhibit 132, which is just -­

A. Yeah, Chapter 1341 of the Accessibility 

Code is very specific. It doesn't matter to the code 

whether it is on an accessible route or not or whether 

it makes any -- if there's any commonsense. It assumes 

that, at some point, it may be on an accessible route; 

and therefore, you are going to make it handicap 

accessible. That's what the code calls for. 

MS. SKARDA: I don't have any more. 

MR. MILLER: I think Mr. Rupp has --
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MR. RUPP: I have a question. 

THE WITNESS: Sure. 

1 

2 

3 MR. RUPP: When you look at the photos 

4 here, you have got this unfinished space with no 

s evidence it has ever been used. 

6 THE WITNESS: Correct. 

7 MR. RUPP: Let's say all the evidence 

B says that it was never legally used because we can't 

9 find any building permit that was completed for this 

10 after it was built in 1976. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 11 

12 MR. RUPP: So now in comes this plan or 

13 a plan for the west dining room. It's my 

14 understanding -- I want you to just -- this is a 

15 question. 

16 

17 

THE WITNESS: Sure. 

MR. RUPP: You can evaluate a plan under 

18 the building code, in your department, either as a 

19 change of use or as a continuation of use. Those are 

20 different code provisions; isn't that right? 

21 THE WITNESS: There's one more piece to 

22 the puzzle. It is no use. Now, when you have a raw 

23 space -- bear with me. Zoning plan usage established 

24 what a use is for that space. I don't care what it 

••••111111-•••iooks like. They approved it for something. SAC 
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determination is for a space, and they determined 

something for that. It sticks. Okay. That's my 

understanding. 

Building code is a little different. 

you rip everything out and it is raw space, it is 

If 

nothing right now. It is nothing. Therefore, you are 

starting like it is new. 

MR. RUPP: Can I get -- mind if I ask a 

clarification? 

THE WITNESS: Go ahead. 

MR. RUPP: Let's say the facts in this 

case, hypothetically -- not hypothetically, because 

these are actually the facts. It gets built for 

restaurant use and never gets finished, which is what's 

happened, because there's no evidence --

THE WITNESS: Wow. Okay. 

MR. RUPP: -- including by me, by the 

way, that's there ever been construction-built anything 

in there. 

Under those circumstances, you would 

need, from a zoning standpoint -- I'm asking a question 

now. 

THE WITNESS: Uh-huh. 

24 

EXHIBIT 

MR. RUPP: You would need a 

-••~reestablishment of the original non-conforming use for 
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zoning; is that correct? 

THE WITNESS: I'm really not the person 

to ask on the zoning. All I know is that I would 

verify with zoning. There would be a trigger, toggle 

switch for me to say I have to go to zoning. 

MR. RUPP: Let's say, hypothetically, if 

they said, since it was built as a restaurant, never 

got finished, 40 years has passed --

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

MR. RUPP: -- you have to go get a 

reestablishment of a non-conforming use. Let's say 

that, which is what they said, by the way. 

THE WITNESS: Okay. 

MR. RUPP: Now, how do you evaluate -­

what provisions of the building code do you use on 

those facts to evaluate a building permit to the west 

dining area? 

THE WITNESS: Zoning does not determine 

what the occupancy group or what the use of the space 

is --

MR. RUPP: Right. 

THE WITNESS: -- or how the building 

23 

24 

....... 

code is applied. A raw space is a raw space is a raw 

space. Whether it had been a restaurant before, 

•----•--~whether it had been -- whatever it had been before, it 
EXHIBIT 
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1 is not a change of use. It is a new use. It is an 

2 existing space, but it is like a brand-new finished-out 

3 space, because it is raw space. 

4 MR. RUPP: Is that the case -- I'm not 

s being argumentative. 

6 

7 

8 

THE WITNESS: No, no, no. I can -­

MR. RUPP: I'm just curious. 

THE WITNESS: After seeing these 

9 pictures -- I don't recall seeing these pictures. I'm 

10 surprised I wouldn't have seen these pictures at some 

11 point along the way. But I don't recall seeing these 

12 raw spaces, because I always thought it was some 

13 finished space that was being remodeled. That's what I 

14 have in my memory. But, you know, that's not as good 

15 as it used to be. 

16 But -- but seeing raw space, I would 

17 have said this is a new use, you know, not for zoning, 

18 not for SAC. But for building code, it is a new 

19 remodel. I would have addressed permits as a new 

20 remodel. 

21 

22 the pictures. 

23 

24 

MR. RUPP: As a -- let's take a look at 

THE WITNESS: Yeah. 

MR. RUPP: If there was some lighting in 

here and there was an HVAC system in there --
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THE WITNESS: Uh-huh. 

MR. RUPP: -- isn't it, particularly 

these days, in some people's minds, a completed space? 

If it has got just painted cement block walls and a bar 

joist ceiling and an air conditioning system and 

lighting, it is a completed space. 

THE WITNESS: I've never seen your end 

product looking like that. 

MR. RUPP: Not mine. We've all been to 

places that are finished spaces like that. 

THE WITNESS: Absolutely. 

MR. RUPP: So the question is: This 

picture, per se, is not determinative of whether or not 

it is a finished space. There's different 

architectural design ideas than I have. To some 

people, these days, it is a finished space? 

THE WITNESS: These days are not what an 

existing space would have been 40 years ago. 

MR. RUPP: In this particular case, we 

discovered, that there was some exercise equipment in 

the space, without the benefit of a license or 

occupancy certificate or construction, and it was 

considered a finished space by that user, because they 

tried to use it, even illegally. 

I used it, since the year 2000, as part 
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1 of the restaurant. I, occasionally, used it for 

2 banquets and storage space. I considered it finished, 

3 although not my standard. So it is a subjective idea 

4 of what aesthetically constitutes a finished space; 

5 isn't that true? 

6 THE WITNESS: I don't see anything that 

7 says that's a usable space. 

8 

9 

10 

pictures? 

11 

12 

13 

picture 

14 signs. 

15 

that 

MR. RUPP: Is there anything in the 

THE WITNESS: The pictures? 

MR. RUPP: Is there anything in the 

says it is not a usable space? 

THE WITNESS: I don't see any exit 

MR. RUPP: Except for the exit signs. 

16 Let's say the photo shows an exit sign. The picture is 

17 not determinative of whether it is a usable space, from 

18 some people's perspective, assuming it has a fire exit? 

19 It doesn't say it is not finished, the picture? 

20 THE WITNESS: The picture, it looks like 

21 a raw space, to me. But it could be something to 

22 somebody else; that is correct. 

EXHIBIT 

23 

24 

I JQ-?4 

MR. RUPP: That is correct. Thank you. 

MR. MILLER: I don't have anything. 

MR. RUPP: Thank you for coming out of 
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1 retirement briefly. 

2 MR. MILLER: We're finished. I'd like 

3 it as soon as possible, electronic copy. 

4 

5 

6 

MS. SKARDA: Electronic copy. 

Do you want to read and sign? 

THE WITNESS: I don't think so. 

7 (Whereupon, the deposition of JIM BLOOM 

a was concluded at 12:15 p.m.) 
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